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Jose Ranon Dom nguez- Sanchez and Ri cardo Marti nez-Borjon were

Pursuant to 5THCGR R 47.5, the court has determ ned
that this opinion should not be published and is not precedent
except under the limted circunstances set forth in 5TH QR
R 47.5. 4.



traveling on H ghway 385 when they were stopped by border patrol
agents. Sanchez and Borjon were arrested after two open sacks
containing bundles of marijuana were found in the back seat of
their vehicle. Sanchez and Borjon filed notions to suppress the
evi dence sei zed and a statenent nmade by one of themat the tine of
the stop, arguing that there were no existing articulable
facts supporting a reasonabl e suspicion that justified the stop of
their vehicle. A nmagistrate judge heard the notions and
recommended t hat they be denied. The district court then conducted
de novo review at a hearing and the notions to suppress were
deni ed. Sanchez and Borjon entered conditional guilty pleas to
possession with intent to distribute 100 kilograns or nore of
marijuana in violation of 18 U S.C. §8 2 and 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1),
but reserved their right to appeal the district court’s ruling
denying their notions to suppress. W affirmthe district court’s
denial of the notions to suppress.

| .

The follow ng evidence was found by the magi strate judge and
district court concerning the stop. Border Patrol Agent Harris
Cl anton, who had over 23 years experience at the Al pine Station,
testified that he had been invol ved i n hundreds of cases involving
illegal aliens and drug snuggling. He explained that the Al pine
Station is responsible for patrolling H ghway 385 that runs to and

from Big Bend National Park. He stated that there are nunerous



pl aces in the southern border of the Al pine patrol area where drugs
or illegal aliens can be smuggled across the river w thout being
det ect ed.

Clanton testified that H ghways 385 and 118 are continually
used to transport illegal aliens and contraband north into other
areas of the state. He testified that there are permanently
est abl i shed checkpoi nts on bot h hi ghways, but that during the prior
year, the checkpoint at H ghway 118 had been open 24 hours a day,
five or six days a week, while the checkpoint at H ghway 385 had
been open only 12 to 14 hours a day. Clanton testified that
smuggl ers usual ly knowif a particul ar checkpoint is open or closed
and will go through when they know it is closed.

On the night of the arrest, C anton and anot her agent, Ceorge
Lopez, were observing traffic on H ghway 385 frominsi de the cl osed
checkpoint.? Clanton testified that he was famliar with the
vehi cl es of the people who lived in the area and reported that the
| ocals generally do not drive on the road in the mddle of the
ni ght. He testified that it is a two-hour drive from the
headquarters at Big Bend Park to the checkpoint on H ghway 385 and
that tourists only occasionally leave the park and drive the
hi ghway | ate at night.

The Marfa Sector Communications Oficer notified d anton

1 Al though the agents were present, the checkpoint was
apparently cl osed because of a governnent policy or regulation
that requires three agents to be present before a checkpoint can
be open.



at 1:17 A M that several sensors had been activated indicating
that a northbound vehicle was approaching their checkpoint.
Sensors are el ectroni c devi ces which detect vehicles as they travel
the roadway. C anton reported that one of the activated sensors
was | ocated within fifty mles of the border. Based on the tine
span between sensor hits and his experience, C anton believed that
the sane vehicle activated the different sensors.

Cl anton and Agent Lopez stepped outside the checkpoint to
a lighted area and were standi ng there as Sanchez and Borjon drove
by in a 1998 Dodge Durango. The vehicle was not famliar to the
agents, and it was not carrying a trailer or anything that
indicated that it was a tourist vehicle. Canton testified that in
hi s experience sports utility vehicles, |ike the Durango, had been
used to smuggle illegal aliens.

As the vehicle drove past, the passenger | ooked at the agents
and continued turning his head back “like he was exceptionally
interested in the fact that [the agents] were there,” according to
Clanton. The agents decided to follow the vehicle to obtain its
registration. Canton testified that he stayed cl ose behind the
vehicle while he was getting its license nunber, and the vehicle
continued to travel at 70 mp.h. even through an “S” curve in the
road. After he obtained the |icense nunber and backed away from
the vehicle, the Durango decelerated to about 45 mp.h. and
continued at that speed for about a mle and a half. When t hey
got to Marathon, the vehicle turned right onto H ghway 90 and
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headed east toward Sanderson.

Clanton received a comunication that the vehicle was
registered to a woman in Mdl and, Texas, which was known to be
a “hub for aliens and narcotics being transported further out of
[the] area,” according to Canton. Canton found it strange that
t he vehicle did not take the turn-off that woul d have been t he nost
direct route to Mdl and, and deci ded to nmake an i nm gration check.

Cl anton caught up with the vehicle and activated his overhead
lights, and the vehicle pulled over to the right-hand side of the
road. As he approached the vehicle, he could not see inside
because the Durango had tinted windows. He shined his flashlight
into the wi ndow and coul d see sonet hi ng was bl ocki ng the view from
the rear of the vehicle. As O anton noved closer, he could see
that there were two burl ap bags on the back seat, and he coul d see
taped rol |l ed bundl es through the openings in the bags. He realized
that it was marijuana and approached the driver.

Cl anton asked the occupants what they were doing with the
marijuana and the driver did not respond, but the passenger said it
was “weed.” The agents placed both individuals under arrest and
brought the vehicle and substance back to the Al pine Station. The
substance field tested positive for marijuana. The total wei ght of
the marijuana seized was 295. 12 pounds.

Clanton testified that he nade the stop because of severa
factors. He believed that the sensor hits showed that the vehicle
came fromthe international border area. Canton testified that it

5



was not wunusual for a passenger to |look at the agents as the
passenger’s vehicle passed but he found the duration of the
passenger’s look in this circunstance to be unusual. Based on the
sensors and the passenger’s conduct he decided to check the
vehicle's registration. C anton decided to nake the stop after he
| earned that the vehicle was registered in Mdland, and the vehicle
did not make the turn that was the nost direct route to that city.
Clanton testified that the stop was al so nade based on the tine of
night, the notoriety of the road for illegal activity, and the
behavior of the driver and passenger. Cl anton stated that
generally about half of his nighttine stops result in arrests.
Clanton also testified that sports utility vehicles are often used
by tourists but also by snugglers and this vehicle did not appear
to be a tourist vehicle.
.

The magi strate judge considered Agent C anton’s substantia
experience detecting illegal alien and drug activity, the sensor
alerts indicating that the vehicle originated its journey at the
border and was traveling north on H ghway 385, the tine of night,
the notoriety of the highway as a drug snuggling path, the
unfamliarity of the vehicle to the agent, the behavior of the
driver and passenger, and the vehicle's route, and found these
factors gave the agents reasonabl e suspicion to nake the stop. The

magi strate judge determ ned that the presence of contraband in



pl ai n vi ew and t he passenger’ s statenent gave the officers probable
cause to arrest the defendants and seize the contraband. The
magi strate judge recomended that the notions to suppress be
deni ed.

The defendants filed objections to the recommendation. The
district court determ ned that the defendants had not presented any
evidence contradicting Agent Clanton’s testinony and that the
magi strate judge's finding that the agent was credible was not
contradi cted by anything in the record. The district court relied
on the evidence of the vehicle’'s traveling within fifty mles of
the border and the other factors cited by the nmagi strate judge and
determ ned that, based on the totality of the circunstances, there
were sufficient facts to justify a reasonabl e suspi ci on to nmake t he
stop. The district court denied the notions to suppress.

Sanchez was sentenced to a termof inprisonnent of 70 nonths,
to be followed by a four-year term of probation. Borj on was
sentenced to a termof inprisonnment of 60 nonths, to be fol |l owed by
a four-year termof supervised rel ease. After sentencing, Sanchez
filed atinely notice of appeal. Borjon filed a notion to file an
out of tine appeal, and the district court granted the notion.

On appeal Sanchez argues that a reasonable suspicion for an
i nvestigatory stop cannot be based on an unparticul arized “hunch”
and that there were no articulable facts sufficient to justify the
stop. Borjon argues that the factors relied upon by the agent were
not specific to their vehicle and would all ow agents to stop every
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vehicle traveling that road that the agent did not recognize as a
| ocal vehicle. The governnent argues that the totality of the
circunstances gave rise to articulable facts justifying the stop
and that the district court was correct in not granting the notions
t o suppress.
L1,

When reviewng the denial of a notion to suppress, the
district court’s factual findings are reviewed for clear error, and
its legal conclusions, including whether there was a reasonable

suspicion for the stop, are reviewed de novo. United States v.

Jacquinot, 258 F.3d 423, 427 (5th GCr. 2001) (per curian).
A factual finding is not clearly erroneous if it is plausible in
light of the record as a whole. |d. The evidence presented at
a suppression hearing nust be viewed in the |ight nost favorable to
the prevailing party. 1d. (quotation and citation omtted).

“A border patrol agent conducting a roving patrol may make
a tenporary investigative stop of a vehicle only if the agent is
aware of specific articulable facts, together wth rational
i nferences fromthose facts, that reasonably warrant suspicion that
the vehicle's occupant is engaged in crimnal activity.” [1d. The
Governnent has the burden to prove by a preponderance of the
evi dence that the investigatory stop was constitutional. Uni t ed

States v. Querrero-Barajas, 240 F.3d 428, 432 (5th Gr. 2001).

As both the magi strate judge and district court noted, several



factors may be considered in determ ning whether the agent had
reasonabl e suspicion justifying the stop. Id. These factors
include, but are not limted to, 1) the character of the area in
which the vehicle is observed; 2) its proximty to the border;
3) the patterns of traffic on that road; 4) the agent’s previous
experience with alien snuggling; 5) information about recent
crossings or other illegal activity in that area; 6) the driver’s
behavi or, such as erratic driving; 7) the characteristics of the
vehicle involved and whether it appears to be heavily | oaded

8) the nunber of passengers and their behavior; and 9) whether the
occupant s have characteristics of persons |living outside the United

States. |d. at 432-33; United States v. Brignoni-Ponce, 422 U. S.

873, 884-85 (1975). No single factor determnes the issue; the
case nust be exam ned based on the totality of the circunstances
knowmm to the agent when the stop was nade and the agent’s

experience in evaluating such circunstances. GQuerrero-Baraj as,

240 F. 3d at 433. In the present case, although not all the factors
indicate that the officers had reasonabl e suspi cion to stop Sanchez
and Borjon, nobst of the factors indicate the agents could
articulate facts and rational inferences based on those facts that
lead to the constitutionally permssible stop of Sanchez and
Borj on.

First and inportantly, whether the agents had reason to
believe that the vehicle in question has recently crossed the
border is one of the vital elenents in determ ning whether there
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was reasonabl e suspicion for the stop. Jacquinot, 258 F. 3d at 428.
If the vehicle is traveling nore than fifty mles fromthe border

it is viewed as being too far away to raise an inference that it
originated its journey there. Id. If the vehicle is first
observed within fifty mles of the border, but stopped at a further
point, the proximty elenent is satisfied. 1d. The activation of
sensors by the vehicle near the border supports a finding that the
vehicle crossed over the border. Id. Sensor hits my be
supportive of reasonable suspicion in cases where the type of
vehi cl e st opped was the sane as the vehicle detected by the sensor.

United States v. I nocencio, 40 F.3d 716, 723 (5th Gr. 1994).

Agent Cl anton was not at liberty to testify as to the precise
| ocation of the sensors that were activated but could testify that
sone of the sensors were within fifty mles of the border. Based
on the timng of the sensor alerts and that fact that the Durango
was the only vehicle seen traveling the road, it can be inferred

t hat Sanchez and Borjon cane fromthe border. See United States v.

Agui rre-Val enzuela, 700 F.2d 161, 163 (5th Cr. 1983) (per curiam

(finding reasonable suspicion where “the timng of the sensor
alerts and the arrival of the Appellant’s car at the agents’
| ocation certainly were coincident enough to allow a reasonable
inference that this was the car which had hit the sensors”).
Second and also significant in this case, the level of
experience of the agent should be a factor in determ ning whet her

reasonabl e suspi ci on exists. United States v. Al daco, 168 F.3d
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148, 151 (5th Gr. 1999). Agent C anton had twenty-three years of
experience and had been assigned to the Alpine Station the entire
time. Agent CGeorge Lopez, who was working with him had | ess than
a year of experience. Canton’s substantial experience weighs in
favor of the reasonabl e suspicion finding.

Addi tionally, other factors may support reasonabl e suspicion.
A driver’s behavior may support a reasonabl e suspicion, although

noti ceabl e decel erati on does may not indicate nuch. United States

v. Jones, 149 F. 3d 364, 370 (5th Cr. 1998); United States v. Di az,

977 F.2d 163, 165 (5th Cr. 1992). In this case both the

magi strate judge and district court found that the driver acted

unusual . A passenger’s behavior in |looking at an officer can be
given only little weight. United States v. Mdreno-Chapparro,
180 F.3d 629, 632 (5th Cr. 1998). Here the |lower courts

enphasi zed the extended | ook the passenger gave the agents. The
road’s reputation as a smuggling route adds to the reasonabl eness
of the suspicion. Jacquinot, 258 F.3d at 429. The stop occurred
on a known snuggling route around 2: 00 A M and at a tinme when the

checkpoi nt on H ghway 118 was known to be open. See United States

v. Villalobos, 161 F.3d 285, 289 (5th G r. 1998) (recogni zing that

the tinme of day that the vehicle is traveling “is a perm ssible
consideration”). Further, the record also indicates that during
the two week tinme period before this stop only 3 or 4 vehicles had
passed this checkpoint at this tine of the day. Agent Canton did
not recogni ze the Durango as belonging to a | ocal and the Durango,
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unl i ke the usual tourist vehicles, was not pulling any recreational
equi pnent . And C anton testified that he had previously been
involved in cases in which the type of vehicle involved in this
case had been used to transport aliens.

Therefore, based on the totality of the circunstances, both
the magistrate judge and district court found that reasonable
suspi cion existed to nmake the stop and we agree.

| V.

Having carefully reviewed the record of this case, the
parties’ respective briefing and argunents, for the reasons set
forth above and essentially for the reasons given by both the
magi strate judge and district court, the denial of Sanchez’ s and
Borjon’s notions to suppress is affirned.

AFFI RVED.
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